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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

Eastern District of California

United States of America )
)
)
)
)
)
)

v.

Sharon Ann Perkins 

Case No.

Defendant(s)

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the date(s) of September 15, 2020 in the county of Yuba in the

Eastern District of California , the defendant(s) violated:

Code Section Offense Description
18 U.S.C. § 1855 Willfully and without authority setting fire to timber, underbrush, or grass or other

inflammable material upon lands owned by or under the jurisdiction of the United States.

This criminal complaint is based on these facts: 

(see attachment)

Continued on the attached sheet.

Complainant’s signature

USFS Special Agent Sophia Fong
Printed name and title

Sworn to before me and signed via telephone.

Date: September 15, 2020
Judge’s signature

City and state: Sacramento, California Carolyn K. Delaney, U.S. Magistrate Judge
Printed name and title

Judge’s signature

2:20-mj-0142 CKD

FILED
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AFFIDAVIT OF U.S. FOREST SERVICE SPECIAL AGENT SOPHIA FONG

I, Sophia Fong, being first duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION AND AFFIANT BACKGROUND

1. I am a Special Agent (“SA”) with the U.S. Forest Service (“USFS”) and have been 

employed as such since November 2011.  I am currently assigned to the Central Investigations Zone 

with the USFS Law Enforcement and Investigations division, based out of Nevada City, California.  I

served as a Field Staff Law Enforcement Ranger for the Bureau of Land Management, and as a Wildlife 

Manager and State Peace Officer for the Arizona Game and Fish Department.  I hold a Bachelor of 

Science Degree in Conservation Biology and graduated from the Land Management Police Training 

Program and the Criminal Investigator Training Program at the Federal Law Enforcement Training 

Center.  In the course of my official duties, I am charged with the investigation of crimes occurring on, 

among other places, the Tahoe National Forest in the Eastern District of California.  I have training and 

experience in investigating such crimes, in the course of which I am authorized to enforce violations of, 

inter alia, 18 U.S.C. § 1855, which criminalizes setting fire to any timber, underbrush, or grass or other 

inflammable material upon any land owned or leased by the United States.

2. The information contained in this affidavit is based on my personal knowledge, as well 

as on information provided to me by other law enforcement officers and/or witnesses, including those 

described in this affidavit.  I make this affidavit solely to establish that probable cause exists to believe 

that violations of the federal criminal law were committed by Sharon Perkins, and I have not listed each 

and every fact known to me regarding the investigation of these violations.

3. This investigation concerns two wildland fires that began on September 15, 2020 in the 

Tahoe National Forest in Yuba County. Due to the limited resources and extreme fire behavior across 

the state of California, on September 7, 2020 the United States Forest Service enacted emergency fire 

restrictions across all of the United States Forest Service lands in the Pacific Southwest Region, which 

includes the entire state of California.  These emergency fire restrictions (Regional Order 20-06) 

prohibit building, maintaining, attending, or using a fire, campfire, or stove or smoking on all National 

Forest System lands, pursuant to 16 U.S.C. §§ 551 and 36 C.F.R. §§ 261.50 and 261.52. On September 

9, 2020, the Pacific Southwest Region enacted an emergency closure order (Regional Order 20-10), 
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2AFFIDAVIT OF SPECIAL AGENT SOPHIA FONG

prohibiting anyone from going into or being upon National Forest System Lands, including the Tahoe 

National Forest. This prohibition includes being on National Forest System roads or trails, pursuant to 

16 U.S.C. §§ 551 and 36 C.F.R. §§ 261.50 and 261.54.  The closure orders were extended on September 

14, 2020 across the Pacific Southwest Region due to continued emergency fire conditions (Regional 

Orders 20-11, 20-12, 20-13).

II. FACTS ESTABLISHING PROBABLE CAUSE

A. Initial Report of Fire

4. On September 15, 2020, at approximately 12:30 a.m., Witness-11 and a friend were 

returning home and observed flames through the trees near 17751 Highway 49 north of Camptonville, 

California in the Tahoe National Forest.  Witness-1 returned home and contacted 911 to report the fire.  

The call went to the Yuba County Sheriff’s Office (YCSO) dispatch.  Two YCSO Deputies and United 

States Forest Service firefighters responded to the fire, which became known as the Joubert Fire. At the 

scene of the fire, the Yuba County Sheriff’s Deputies encountered two separate fires.  The first fire was 

located approximately 25 feet from a travel trailer attached to a pickup truck.  The second fire was 

located approximately five feet from the rear passenger side of the travel trailer.  The deputies also 

encountered a female who identified herself as Sharon Bohen, later identified as Sharon Perkins. When 

the deputies asked Perkins what happened, Perkins stated that she was trying to burn down the trailer 

because she was tired of her lifestyle.  The Yuba County Sheriff’s Office Deputies then detained 

Perkins, placing her in handcuffs into the back of their patrol vehicle. The deputies advised Perkins that 

she was not under arrest at that time.  At approximately 01:56 hours they contacted the USFS Tahoe 

National Forest dispatch center and requested USFS Law Enforcement to respond.  

5. At approximately 02:20 hours, the Tahoe National Forest Grass Valley Emergency 

Communications Center contacted USFS Patrol Captain Gerald Parker who responded to the incident.  

Patrol Captain Parker contacted the Yuba County Sheriff’s Deputies.  The deputies stated that they had 

Perkins and that she had admitted to starting the fires because she wanted to burn down the trailer. 

1 The names and identities of Witness-1 and Witness-2 are known to me; however, I have not 
included that information here out of privacy concerns.  I can provide this information to the Court, 
should the Court so desire.
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3AFFIDAVIT OF SPECIAL AGENT SOPHIA FONG

6. Patrol Captain Parker then contacted Witness-1, who stated that he had observed flames 

burning through the trees while on his way home with a friend at approximately 12:30 hours.  Witness-1

stated that he then returned to his residence, called 911, and notified the Yuba County Sheriff’s Office 

dispatch of the fire.  Witness-1 stated that he then returned to the scene of the fire with hand tools to try 

to put the fire out before it spread.  When Witness-1 arrived on scene, he observed two separate fires 

burning and a female (later identified as Sharon Perkins) laying on a sleeping bag approximately 15 

yards away, watching the fires.  Witness-1 asked Perkins to help him extinguish the flames.  Perkins 

responded to the effect of, “No, I set it because I want to watch the trailer burn.” Witness-1 then began 

to fight the fire with his hand tools until the Yuba County Sheriff’s Deputies and the USFS firefighters 

arrived on scene and began suppression activities.  

7. Patrol Captain Parker then contacted Witness-2, who had arrived on scene approximately 

ten minutes prior to Patrol Captain Parker.  Witness-2 stated he was Perkins’ husband.  Witness-2 stated 

that he had left Perkins at the camp alone the previous night since they had got into a fight and Perkins 

did not want to go to town with him.  Witness-2 noted that Perkins was upset when he left.  Witness-2

stated that they had been camped there for approximately one week. 

8. When Patrol Captain Parker walked around the two fires, he noticed that at the site of the 

first fire there was a large three- to four-foot high stack of firewood that was partially burned, as well as 

char marks on the ground and burned organic debris and grass. There were also burned pieces of plastic 

consistent with a gasoline can.  The first fire was approximately seven feet by seven feet in size and was 

located approximately 25 feet from a travel trailer with California Plate 1NA3112 and attached to a Ford

pickup truck.  The ground was wet from fire suppression activities. The second fire was approximately 

ten feet by fifteen feet and was located approximately five feet from the rear passenger side of the travel 

trailer.  Patrol Captain Parker noticed that the back of the trailer’s bumper end cap and the rear taillight 

were partially melted and there were scorch and burn marks on the trailer itself, which was parked next 

to a thick stand of vegetation and overhanging trees. There was also charred material as well as partially 

burned items including what appeared to be clothing in the second fire.      

B. Interview with Sharon Perkins

9. Patrol Captain Parker contacted Perkins, who was still seated in the back of the Yuba 
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4AFFIDAVIT OF SPECIAL AGENT SOPHIA FONG

County Sheriff’s Office Deputies’ patrol vehicle.  Patrol Captain Parker advised Perkins that she was not 

under arrest at that time and read her Mirada rights. When he asked her if she would talk to him, she 

said she would.   Perkins then advised Patrol Captain Parker that she had started the first fire using her 

underwear, a lighter, and gasoline in an attempt to burn the travel trailer.  Perkins stated that the fire 

wasn’t getting big enough so she threw a can of gasoline on the fire.  Perkins stated that the fire was still 

not catching the trailer on fire, so Perkins poured a line of gasoline from the fire to the travel trailer.  

When Perkins realized that the fire was not going to burn the travel trailer, she started the second fire 

using clothes, a blanket, gasoline, and a lighter.  She stated that she then threw the second can of 

gasoline onto the second fire and ran away thinking that it would make a big explosion since that fire 

was much larger than the first fire.  Perkins stated that she and her husband (Witness 2) had been 

camped in the forest for a month, which is in violation of the fourteen-day camping limit in the Tahoe 

National Forest.

10. Perkins stated that she did not know about fire restrictions in the forest but admitted to 

seeing the large plume of smoke from the North Complex Fire burning on the Plumas National Forest, 

just north of their location.  Perkins stated that she should have known that there were fire restrictions 

because of the smoke but stated that it has been cold at night.   She showed Patrol Captain Parker the 

melted plastic from the gasoline can in the first fire.

11. At approximately 05:00 hours, Patrol Captain Parker placed Perkins under arrest for 18 

U.S.C. § 1855, Set Timber Afire, and transported her to the Sacramento County Jail. At approximately 

05:28 hours, Perkins stated that she needed to relieve herself.  Patrol Captain Parker stopped his vehicle 

at the junction of County Road 34 and Highway 49, uncuffed Perkins, and gave her tissue paper, then 

continued her transport to the jail.  At approximately 06:16 hours, Perkins complained of shoulder pain, 

so Patrol Captain Parker stopped the patrol vehicle at the junction of Marysville road and Highway 20, 

where he un-handcuffed her and let her stretch her shoulders.  At approximately 06:22 hours, Patrol 

Captain Parker continued to transport Perkins to the Sacramento County Jail.  When in the jail, Perkins 

stated that her name was Sharon Perkins, advising Patrol Captain Parker that Perkins was her maiden 

name.

12. A license plate check of the travel trailer with CA plate 1NA3112, showed that the 
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5AFFIDAVIT OF SPECIAL AGENT SOPHIA FONG

vehicle was registered to Sharon Bohen, from Greenwood, California.  “Sharon Bohen” was listed as an 

alias for Sharon Perkins.  The pickup truck was registered to MJD Engineering from Sacramento, 

California. A Honda four-door sedan that was also at the scene of the fires was found to be registered to 

a different name.  

III. CONCLUSION

13. The fires described above occurred within the boundaries of the Tahoe National Forest in

Yuba County, which is located within the Eastern District of California.  The Tahoe National Forest is 

land owned by and under the jurisdiction of the USFS.

14. Based on the facts set forth in this affidavit, I respectfully submit that there is probable

cause to believe that Sharon Perkins committed violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1855, which criminalizes 

setting fire to any timber, underbrush, or grass or other inflammable material upon any land owned or 

leased by the United States.

Respectfully submitted,

SOPHIA FONG
Special Agent
U.S. Forest Service

Subscribed and sworn to via telephone on:

Hon. Carolyn K. Delaney
U.S. MAGISTRATE JUDGE 

/s/ Shea J. Kenny
Approved as to form by AUSA SHEA J. KENNY

Hon. Carolyn K. Delaney
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